STATE OF MICHIGAN
SUPREME COURT
(On Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals)

BONNIE BLACK, Next Friend of
JESSICA BITNER, a minor,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

WILLIAM SHAFER, MARY SHAFER, and
IAN GEARHART,

Defendants,
and

ANTHONY SHAFER,

Defendant-Appellant.

Supreme Court Case Number: 149516
COA Case Number:312379
Lower Court Case Number: 11-010645-NO
Honorable Amy P. Hathaway

FRANCI B. SILVER (P41166)
Lee B. Steinberg PC
Attorney for Plaintiffs-Appellees
30500 Northwestern Highway, Suite 400
Farmington Hills, MI 48334
(248) 352-7777, (248) 352-6254 fax
franci@leefree.net

HOWARD C. TREADO (P30234)
kallas & henk pc
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant
43902 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS INVOLVED

I. WHERE PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE’S CLAIM IS BASED ON AN INSTRUMENTALITY ON THE PREMISES, DOES THE CLAIM SOUND IN PREMISES LIABILITY?

The Trial Court said: Did Not Address
The Court of Appeals said: “No”
Defendant-Appellant says: “Yes”
Plaintiff-Appellee would say: “It Sounds in Both Premises Liability and Ordinary Negligence”.

II. IS PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE’S STATUS AS A LICENSEE RELEVANT TO WHETHER DEFENDANT-APPELLANT OWES HER A DUTY?

The Trial Court said: “Yes”
The Court of Appeals said: “No”
Defendant-Appellant says: “Yes”
Plaintiff-Appellee would say: “Yes”

III. EVEN IF THE CLAIM SOUNDS IN ORDINARY NEGLIGENCE, DID DEFENDANT-APPELLANT OWE PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE A DUTY TO PROTECT HER FROM THE CRIMINAL ACT OF A THIRD-PARTY WHEN THE PARTIES DID NOT HAVE A LEGALLY SIGNIFICANT “SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP”?

The Trial Court said: “No”
The Court of Appeals said: “Yes”
Defendant-Appellant says: “No”
Plaintiff-Appellee would say: “Yes”

IV. EVEN IF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT OWED PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE A DUTY, COULD A REASONABLE JURY FIND THAT DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BREACHED THAT DUTY WHEN HE HAD PREVIOUSLY VERIFIED THAT THE SHOTGUN WAS NOT LOADED AND WHEN HE WAS NOT AWARE THAT PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE AND HER BOYFRIEND, GEARHART, WERE IN THE GARAGE OR THAT GEARHART WAS NEGLIGENTLY/CRIMINALLY HANDLING THE SHOTGUN?

The Trial Court said: “No”
The Court of Appeals said: “Yes”
Defendant-Appellant says: “No”
Plaintiff-Appellee would say: “Yes”

V. WHERE GEARHART (A THIRD-PARTY) COMMITTED A CRIMINAL ACT IN SHOOTING PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE, IS DEFENDANT-APPELLANT RELIEVED FROM LIABILITY FOR THE CONSEQUENCES OF GEARHART’S CRIMINAL ACT?

The Trial Court said: Did Not Address

The Court of Appeals said: "No"
Defendant-Appellant says: "Yes"
Plaintiff-Appellee would say: "No"

VI. WHEN DEFENDANT-APPELLANT VERIFIED THAT THE GUN WAS NOT LOADED AND HOURS LATER A THIRD-PARTY PICKED UP THE GUN (WITHOUT THE KNOWLEDGE OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT), RACKED A SHELL, AND SHOT PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE, WERE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S ACTIONS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF PLAINTIFF- APPELLEE'S INJURIES?

The Trial Court said: Did Not Address
The Court of Appeals said: Did Not Address
Defendant-Appellant says: "No"
Plaintiff-Appellee would say: "Yes"

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Court's appellate decision regarding a motion for summary disposition is reviewed de novo. *City of Taylor v. Detroit Edison Co.*, 475 Mich 109, 115; 715 N.W.2d 28 (2006); *Smith v. Globe Life Ins Co*, 460 Mich 446, 454; 597 N.W.2d 28 (1999). A party is entitled to summary disposition as a matter of law under MCR 2.116(C)(10) if the evidence shows that there is no genuine issue with respect to any material fact. *Smith, supra*.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff-Appellee, 16-year-old Jessica Bitner (“Plaintiff”), was shot in the leg by her boyfriend, Ian Gearhart (“Gearhart”), while Plaintiff and Gearhart were social guests at Anthony Shafer’s (“Shafer”) grandparents’ home. At issue in this case is whether Shafer (who did not own the gun or the property) owed a duty to Plaintiff (a social guest) to protect her from an unforeseeable gunshot. Shafer had previously checked the gun to make sure that there were no shells in the chamber and had even pulled the trigger to confirm it was not loaded. Shafer was not present in the garage when the incident occurred, was unaware that Gearhart and Plaintiff had returned to the garage, and was unaware that Gearhart was handling the gun. It is undisputed that Gearhart’s firing of the gun constituted a criminal act. Shafer filed a Motion for Summary Disposition on the basis that (1) he did not owe Plaintiff a duty; (2) in the alternative, if he did owe Plaintiff a duty, he did not breach that duty.³ The trial court granted Shafer’s Motion for Summary Disposition finding that (1) there was no special relationship between Plaintiff and Shafer, (2) Shafer did not breach any duty to Plaintiff, and (3) it was unforeseeable that Gearhart would pick up the gun, rack a shell into the chamber, and then discharge it.⁴ The Court of Appeals (in a split decision) reversed the trial court’s decision.⁵

³ See **Appellant’s Appendix pgs. 41a - 57a**, Shafer’s Motion for Summary Disposition.

⁴ See **Appellant’s Appendix pgs. 70a - 71a**, June 8, 2012 Order Granting Shafer’s Motion for Summary Disposition; See **Appellant’s Appendix pgs. 61a - 69a**, Trial Court Hearing Transcript for Shafer’s Motion for Summary Disposition.

⁵ See **Appellant’s Appendix pgs. 83a - 88a**, Court of Appeals Opinion, *Black v. Shafer*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 25, 2014 (Docket No. 312379).

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL PROCEEDINGS AND FACTS

Factual Background

The instant lawsuit arises out of a non-fatal, gun shot accident that occurred in the early morning hours of July 21, 2011 in Belleville, Michigan. The Defendant-Appellant, Anthony Shafer (“Shafer”), is the half brother of the Gearharts, but he lives with his grandparents, William Shafer and Mary Shafer, at 12921 Lakepointe Pass, Belleville, MI, 48111. On July 20, 2011, Plaintiff-Appellee, Jessica Bitner (“Plaintiff”), Kayla Warden, Stephanie Sutton, Dustin Gearhart, and Ian Gearhart arrived at William and Mary Shafers’ home to go swimming with Anthony Shafer.⁶ After swimming for a few hours, Kayla Warden drove Plaintiff, Dustin Gearhart, and Stephanie Sutton home. Ian Gearhart (“Gearhart”), who was 21 years old at the time, went with Shafer to the store and then to get something to eat.⁷

Once Plaintiff and Mrs. Sutton were back home, they received a phone call from Gearhart and Shafer. The two boys stated that they were going to come pick them up and bring them back to William and Mary Shafers’ home. Plaintiff, who was 16 years old at the time, was dating Gearhart and lived with him.⁸ When the group of four got back to the Shafers’ house, it was around midnight.⁹ Although Shafer and Gearhart (who were both of legal drinking age) were drinking alcohol, Shafer does not recall Plaintiff or Ms. Sutton

⁶ See **Appellant’s Appendix p.13a**, Deposition of Plaintiff Jessica Bitner at p. 27 of transcript.

⁷ See **Appellant’s Appendix, p. 21a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 28 of transcript.

⁸ See **Appellant’s Appendix, pgs. 10a - 11a**, Deposition of Plaintiff Jessica Bitner at pgs. 7, 9-10 of transcript.

⁹ See **Appellant’s Appendix p. 16a**, Deposition of Plaintiff Jessica Bitner at p. 39 of transcript.

drinking any alcohol and he did not offer any alcohol to them.¹⁰ While they were all in the garage, Ms. Sutton noticed a shotgun leaning against the wall, in an alcove, between a shelf and a speaker.¹¹ The shotgun was legally owned by Mr. and Mrs. Shafer and was kept in the garage for home protection.

After Ms. Sutton noticed the shotgun in the garage, Gearhart attempted to pick it up. However, Shafer took the shotgun from him and checked to make sure that the gun was not loaded.¹² There were no shells in the chamber, and there were only two shells in the gun's magazine/reserve.¹³ Therefore, the shotgun could not fire a bullet without a shell being racked into the chamber. Shafer pulled the slide back to look in the chamber and then pulled the trigger to confirm that the shotgun was not loaded.¹⁴ Gearhart then held and examined the shotgun, and put it back in the spot that it was found.¹⁵ That was the only time that evening that the gun was handled by anyone in the presence of Shafer.¹⁶

The group of four left the garage and went down to the lake (which was approximately 100 yards away) to swim.¹⁷ After about an hour down by the lake, Plaintiff and Gearhart returned to the garage at around 4:00 a.m. Shafer and Ms. Sutton stayed

¹⁰ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 22a, 24a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at pgs. 31, 41 of transcript.

¹¹ See **Appellant's Appendix, p. 22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 31 of transcript. It sat against the wall in a five inch gap between a table made of speakers and a set of shelves. The shelves and speakers extended about 18-20 inches out from the wall and the shotgun sat all the way back inside this gap. See **Appellant's Appendix p. 29a**, Deposition of Mary Shafer at pgs. 14-15 of transcript; See **Appellant's Appendix p. 35a - 36a**, Deposition of William Shafer at pgs. 22-23, 39.

¹² See **Appellant's Appendix p. 22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 32 of transcript.

¹³ See **Appellant's Appendix p.22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at pgs. 32-33 of transcript.

¹⁴ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 32 of transcript.

¹⁵ See **Appellant's Appendix p.22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at pgs. 32-33 of transcript.

¹⁶ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at pgs.32-33 of transcript.

¹⁷ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 22a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 33 of transcript.

down by the water.¹⁸ Shafer did not even realize that the other two had went to the garage because he was down the shoreline swimming by himself.¹⁹ Plaintiff changed back into her clothes once she got back into the garage with Gearhart.²⁰ At that time, Plaintiff noticed that Gearhart was holding the shotgun in his hand. Gearhart walked behind Plaintiff, while holding the shotgun. Plaintiff then heard the shotgun go off, and it hit her in the back of the left leg near the ankle.²¹

Shafer, who was still swimming at the time, heard screams coming from up near the house. That is when Shafer noticed that Gearhart and Plaintiff were no longer down by the lake.²² Once he heard the screams, Shafer began swimming back towards the shore. As he was getting out of the water, Shafer saw Gearhart running toward the lake. Gearhart informed Shafer that Plaintiff had been shot.²³

Procedural History

On or about September 1, 2011, Plaintiff's mother filed the current lawsuit against William and Mary Shafer, Defendant-Appellant Anthony Shafer, and Ian Gearhart. Plaintiff alleged that William and Mary Shafer and Defendant-Appellant Anthony Shafer:

- a. created a dangerous and hazardous condition so as to endanger the Plaintiff;
- b. allowed a hazardous condition to exist on his premises;
- c. failed to exercise reasonable care for Plaintiff's safety in the circumstances;
- d. negligently left a loaded firearm in the garage;

¹⁸ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 17a**, Deposition of Plaintiff Jessica Bitner at pgs. 46-47 of transcript.

¹⁹ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 23a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 35 of transcript.

²⁰ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 9a - 18a**, Deposition of Plaintiff Jessica Bitner, p. 47.

²¹ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 9a - 18a**, Deposition of Plaintiff Jessica Bitner, p. 55.

²² See **Appellant's Appendix p. 23a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at p. 35 of transcript.

²³ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 23a**, Deposition of Anthony Shafer at pgs. 34-36 of transcript.

- e. failed to keep the firearm in a locked storage area;
- f. failed to properly and adequately supervise the individuals on his premises;
- g. negligently allowed a loaded firearm in an unlocked area where alcoholic beverages were being consumed; and
- h. committed other acts of negligence which are herewith reserved for proof at the time of trial.

On February 22, 2012, William and Mary Shafer filed a Motion for Summary Disposition. The Shafers argued that they were not liable because they did not owe Plaintiff a duty. In addition, they argued that even if they did owe Plaintiff a duty, they did not breach any duty owed to Plaintiff. Mr. and Mrs. Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition was granted at the hearing on April 20, 2012.²⁴ Plaintiff did not appeal the trial court order granting summary disposition to Mr. and Mrs. Shafer despite the fact that Mr. and Mrs. Shafer owned the house and the gun.²⁵

On April 12, 2012, Anthony Shafer filed a Motion for Summary Disposition arguing that: (1) he did not owe Plaintiff a duty; (2) in the alternative, if he did owe Plaintiff a duty, he did not breach that duty.²⁶ On June 8, 2012, the trial court entered an Order Granting Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition.²⁷ At the hearing on Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition, the trial court agreed with Shafer that (1) there was no special relationship between Plaintiff and Shafer, (2) Shafer did not breach any duty to Plaintiff, and (3) it was

²⁴ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 72a - 73a**, Wayne County Circuit Court Order, June 19, 2012 Order Granting Summary Disposition to William and Mary Shafer.

²⁵ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 33a**, Deposition of William Shafer at pgs. 3-5 of transcript; See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 28a**, Deposition of Mary Shafer at p.12 of transcript.

²⁶ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 41a - 57a**, Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition.

²⁷ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 70a - 71a**, Wayne County Circuit Court Order, June 8, 2012 Order Granting Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition.

unforeseeable that Gearhart would pick up the gun, rack a shell into the chamber and then discharge it.²⁸

Default judgment against Gearhart was entered on August 24, 2012. On September 13, 2012, Plaintiff filed a Claim of Appeal pursuant to MCR 7.204(A)(1)(a) against Anthony Shafer only, appealing the June 8, 2012 Order Granting Summary Disposition in his favor.

On March 25, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion (a 2-1 decision) reversing the trial court's decision on the basis that: (1) Shafer owed Plaintiff a duty of ordinary care; (2) a reasonable jury could find that Shafer breached that duty because he failed to make the shotgun safe; and (3) a special relationship existed between Plaintiff and Shafer because Shafer picked Plaintiff up in his vehicle, provided minor Plaintiff with alcohol, and allowed her in his garage with an intoxicated person and a loaded shotgun.²⁹

Honorable Kathleen Jansen dissented from the majority opinion on the basis that: (1) Plaintiff was a licensee; (2) Shafer owed no duty to protect Plaintiff from the unexpected and unforeseeable gunshot; (3) there was no special relationship between Plaintiff and Shafer; and (4) no reasonable juror could conclude that Shafer breached the limited duty of care that he owed to Plaintiff as a licensor.³⁰

On April 14, 2014, Shafer filed a Motion for Reconsideration on the basis that a palpable error had been made and the Court of Appeals had been misled in that (1) Shafer

²⁸ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 70a - 71a**, Wayne County Circuit Court Order, June 8, 2012 Order Granting Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition; See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 61a - 69a**, Trial Court Hearing Transcript for Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition.

²⁹ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 83a - 88a**, Court of Appeals Opinion, *Black v. Shafer*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 25, 2014 (Docket No. 312379).

³⁰ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 83a - 88a**, Court of Appeals Opinion, *Black v. Shafer*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 25, 2014 (Docket No. 312379), Dissenting Opinion.

owed no duty to Plaintiff, (2) social host liability is inapplicable to the case at hand, (3) Plaintiff's status as a licensee is relevant to the case, and (4) no special relationship exists between Plaintiff and Shafer.³¹ On May 12, 2014, the Court of Appeals denied Shafer's Motion for Reconsideration.³²

On June 20, 2014, Shafer filed an Application for Leave to Appeal the March 25, 2014 opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals reversing the trial court's granting of Shafer's Motion for Summary Disposition.³³ On December 19, 2014, this Court granted Shafer's Application for Leave to Appeal and requested that the parties address: (1) whether this action sounds in ordinary negligence or in premises liability; (2) the role, if any, of licensor-licensee relationships in this action; (3) the specific nature of the duty, if any, owed by Shafer to Plaintiff with respect to her injury, including whether the parties had a legally significant "special relationship"; (4) whether a reasonable juror could determine that a duty was breached; (5) the import of a third party's criminal act in negligently discharging a firearm; and (6) causation generally.³⁴ Each of these issues is addressed below.

ARGUMENT

I. This is a Premises Liability Case

Plaintiff's claim sounds in premises liability, not ordinary negligence. Plaintiff's claim is based on a condition/instrumentality on the premises. "When an injury develops from a condition on the land, rather than emanating from an activity or conduct that created the

³¹ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 89a - 99a**, Shafer's Motion for Reconsideration.

³² See **Appellant's Appendix p. 100a**, Court of Appeals Order, May 12, 2014 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration. Honorable Jansen would grant the Motion for Reconsideration.

³³ See **Appellant's Appendix pgs. 105a - 135a**, Shafer's Application for Leave to Appeal to Supreme Court.

³⁴ See **Appellant's Appendix p. 136a**, December 19, 2014 Order of the Supreme Court Granting Application for Leave to Appeal.

condition on the property, the action sounds in premises liability.” *Woodman v. Kera, LLC*, 280 Mich. App. 125, 153; 760 N.W.2d 641 (2008). The Court of Appeals has recognized that premises liability “extends to instrumentalities on the premises”. *Eason v. Coggins Memorial Christian Methodist Episcopal Church*, 210 Mich. App. 261, 264; 532 N.W.2d 882 (1995). “If the plaintiff’s injury arose from an allegedly dangerous condition on the land, the action sounds in premises liability rather than ordinary negligence; this is true even when the plaintiff alleges that the premises possessor created the condition giving rise to the plaintiff’s injury.” *Buhalis v. Trinity Continuing Care Servs.*, 296 Mich. App. 685, 692; 822 N.W.2d 254 (2012).

The majority of the Court of Appeals in this action, *Black v. Shafer*³⁵, stated that the question of whether Plaintiff was an invitee or licensee is irrelevant as this is a negligence case, not a premises liability case. However, the allegations in Plaintiff’s complaint and Plaintiff’s own admissions demonstrate otherwise. In her Response to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Disposition, Plaintiff characterizes this as a “negligence/premises liability case”.³⁶ Plaintiff further states “[a]s it pertains to premises liability allegations . . . Plaintiff admits that she was a social guest at the time of the incident...”.³⁷ Further, the Complaint sounds in premises liability, alleging that Shafer breached a duty owed to the general public by:

- a. creating a dangerous and hazardous condition so as to endanger the Plaintiff;

³⁵ See **Appellant’s Appendix pgs. 83a - 88a**, Court of Appeals Opinion, *Black v. Shafer*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 25, 2014 (Docket No. 312379).

³⁶ See **Appellant’s Appendix pgs. 58a - 60a**, Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Disposition at pgs. 3, 5, 10.

³⁷ See **Appellant’s Appendix p. 60a**, Plaintiff’s Response to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Disposition.

- b. allowing a hazardous condition to exist on his premises;
- c. failure to exercise reasonable care for Plaintiff's safety in the circumstances;
- d. negligently leaving a loaded firearm in the garage;
- e. failing to keep the firearm in a locked storage area;
- f. failing to properly and adequately supervise the individuals on his premises;
- g. negligently allowing a loaded firearm in an unlocked area where alcoholic beverages were being consumed;

Michigan Courts have found cases which allege injuries from instrumentalities on the premises sound in premises liability. In *Cuolahan v. Stamper*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued Nov. 9, 2004 (Docket No. 249244)³⁸, Ludwig, believing his shotgun was unloaded, aimed it at Nicholas and pulled the trigger, in an attempt to scare him as a joke. However, the gun was actually loaded and Nicholas was fatally shot. *Id.* At the time of the incident, Ludwig and Nicholas were both residing in the defendant's home. *Id.* The Court of Appeals found that the plaintiff's complaint "asserted a claim against defendant based on a **premises liability theory** framed in terms of defendant's failure to protect Nicholas from Ludwig." *Id.* (Emphasis added).

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