**STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

JESSICA BITNER, a minor,  
and BONNIE BLACK, as next friend,

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

v

ANTHONY SHAFER,

Defendant/Appellant,

and

WILLIAM SHAFER,  
MARY SHAFER, and  
IAN GEARHART,

Defendants.

Supreme Court Case No. 149516

Court of Appeals Case No. 312379

Wayne County Circuit Court

Case No. 11-010645

Hon. Amy P. Hathaway (P40786)

---

Steven A. Hicks (P49966)  
SPEAKER LAW FIRM, PLLC  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellees  
230 North Sycamore Street  
Lansing, MI 48933  
(517) 482-8933  
shicks@speakerlaw.com

Howard C. Treado (P30234)  
KALLAS & HENK, P.C.  
Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant  
43902 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, ANTHONY SHAFER, OWED A DUTY TO PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE, JESSICA BITNER, TO USE DUE CARE TO PROTECT HER FROM THE UNREASONABLE RISK OF HARM POSED BY THE SHOTGUN THAT WAS KEPT UNSECURED IN THE GARAGE BECAUSE HE ALONE KNEW IT HAD 2 BULLETS IN THE MAGAZINE/RESERVE AND THE SAFETY WAS NOT “ON”.**

**A. This case is a ordinary negligence claim.**

The key question in this case is whether Anthony Shafer’s conduct in handling the shotgun that evening created a duty for him to use reasonable care to protect the others, including Jessica, from harm, in particular, the danger posed by an unsecured shotgun, which had 2 bullets in the magazine/reserve, and the safety switch in the “off” position”.

In Michigan, the law is clear, as it is in other jurisdictions, that there is a duty to reasonable care when a person is engaged in some undertaking. In other words, the person’s actions create a duty to use ordinary care in performing that undertaking so that others are not subjected to unreasonable risks of harm. It is that duty – the duty to use due care when taking some action – that is at the very core of any ordinary negligence claim.

This Court has recognized the duty to use due care in the context of an ordinary negligence claims in other scenarios. In *Kwiatkowski*, supra, this Court reversed the Court of Appeals’ majority opinion, and instead, adopted the dissenting opinion by Judge Jansen. In *Kwiatkowski*, the majority questioned whether the case was properly viewed as an

ordinary negligence claim, as opposed to a premises liability claim, before concluding that the plaintiff should not have been allowed to amend his complaint to add an ordinary negligence claim. The dissenting opinion, which coincidentally was authored by Judge Jansen, as in this case, concluded that plaintiff had a viable ordinary negligence claim based on defendant's conduct in opening the door into plaintiff knocking him to the ground. Judge Jansen would have affirmed the trial court's refusal to grant summary disposition. This Court agreed with Judge Jansen, and accordingly, adopted the dissenting opinion.

The Court of Appeals has similarly affirmed the duty to use due care in ordinary negligence claims on many occasions. See also, *Laier v Kitchen*, 266 Mich App 482, 490, 702 NW2d 199 (2005); *Hiner v Mojica*, 271 Mich App 614, 615, 722 NW2d 914 (2006); *Sherry v E Suburban Football League*, 292 Mich App 23, 29, 807 NW2d 859 (2011). There is presumably no way to predict the manner in which individuals will attempt to do something, and in so doing, violate the duty to use due care in performing that undertaking.

Most recently, this Court addressed this issue in the context of whether a duty is owed to an injured third person when the defendant's conduct also violates an agreement between contracting parties. In *Loweke v Ann Arbor Ceiling & Partition Co*, 489 Mich 157, 170-172, 809 NW2d 553 (2011), this Court affirmed that a duty is owed to an injured third person when a breach of contractual duties injures that person. In so doing, this Court clarified its prior ruling in *Fultz v Union-Commerce Assocs*, 470 Mich 460, 683 NW2d 587 (2004), regarding when an injured third person can sue contracting parties on a tort claim. But, even more importantly, in the context of this case, this Court affirmed in *Loweke* that an ordinary negligence claim can be based on a defendant's undertaking, when it stated:

. . . . *Fultz* does not extinguish the simple idea that is embedded deep in the American common law of torts . . . : if one “having assumed to act, does so negligently,” then liability exists as to a third party for “failure of the defendant to exercise care and skill in the performance itself.” [Citations omitted].

Although this Court did not find a viable ordinary negligence claim in the *Fultz* case, the defendant snow removal contractor in that case did not perform his contracted undertaking. Without active negligence, this Court concluded that the defendant had no duty to use reasonable care in that case, and consequently, there was no ordinary negligence claim.

In contrast, in *Osman v Summer Green Lawn Care*, 209 Mich App 703, 532 NW2d 186 (1995), which was discussed in *Fultz*, supra, and distinguished by the Court in *Fultz*, at pp 468-469, the snow removal contractor in *Fultz* did not even bother to show up to perform his contracted duties, and thus, no duty to use due care was created, whereas, in *Osman*, the claim was that the defendant snow removal contractor violated his duty to use reasonable care by plowing the parking lot in such a manner as to create a hazard.

In this case, the active negligence on the part of Anthony Shafer could not be much clearer (although admittedly what he actually did and how this gun functions has not always been clearly described below, especially when, in the Court of Appeals’ majority opinion, it was incorrectly stated that “[d]efendant asserted that he removed a shell from the chamber” when, in actuality, he did not say that – he testified only that he checked the chamber of the shotgun, by pulling back the “slide”, meaning the pump, to confirm nothing was in the chamber ready to be fired before he then handed the shotgun back to Gearhart.

Much of the discussion (and argument) in this case has been couched in language debating whether the shotgun was “loaded” or “unloaded” when Shafer gave it back to

Gearhart and let him indulge his curiosity by playing with. Plaintiff's position throughout this case has been that the shotgun was an unsecured "loaded" weapon. Defendant's position has been that the shotgun, while admittedly unsecured, was not "loaded". While the term "loaded" can probably mean different things to different people, it is probably safe to assume that a layperson would say that a gun is "loaded" when there are bullets in the gun.

While an experienced gun owner might see a distinction as to whether a gun is loaded or unloaded, even with bullets in the gun, based on whether the gun can be fired simply by squeezing the trigger, it is probably fair to say that there is some basic gun knowledge that is required to have such an understanding – knowledge that was lacking at times in this case when it came to the decision-making. Here, the trial court also misunderstood the basic facts in this case, when stating on the record at the motion hearing that "[t]he Court is satisfied that how Shafer would ever know that Gearhart would then, pick up the gun, which didn't have shells, and then load the shell into the chamber and then discharge it . . . is not foreseeable." [Appendix, 67a]. That statement is simply, and unequivocally, wrong. The shotgun had "shells" in the magazine/reserve. Shafer knew it. Gearhart did not. Loading a shell into the chamber is simple with a pump action shotgun (for someone with adequate arm strength, as Gearhart evidently had). Gearhart did not need to locate "shells" and then figure out how to load them. All he had to do was rack the gun using the pump action, which he did, when in his words, he "cocked" the gun.

If anything, this debate over whether the gun was loaded or not demonstrates one of the most essential points to understanding this particular negligence claim. Shafer, an experienced gun owner, clearly knew how this shotgun operated. He alone knew that there were bullets in the magazine/reserve which could be advanced to the chamber for firing



simply by using the pump action. Gearhart, in contrast, did not know there were bullets in the magazine/reserve, and probably believed otherwise based on what Shafer did with the shotgun earlier in the evening. If he had, Gearhart would never have “cocked” the gun. Shafer’s knowledge, and Gearhart’s ignorance (as well as his clear interest in the shotgun) made it foreseeable that he would pick up the shotgun again, and believing it was unloaded, he would play with it by using the pump action, and even pulling the trigger. It is an incredibly stupid thing to do. But, he had just seen Shafer handle the shotgun, and seemingly confirm that it was safe (and unloaded). He had even seen Shafer pull the trigger safely. Shafer did not warn him the shotgun was still dangerous because it could be easily armed for firing by using the pump action. Instead, Shafer handed him the gun.

Under those circumstances, it was foreseeable that Gearhart would pick up the shotgun again later that evening and do what he did. Shafer had a duty to use due care to protect the others from harm because of how he handled the gun in front of them earlier that same evening. Shafer had many options available to him that could have easily ensured the safety of the others present that evening; instead, he acted negligently by not securing the weapon, removing the bullets, activating the safety or simply warning them.

**B. This case is not a premises liability claim.**

As set forth in the above section, this case is an ordinary negligence claim. It is not a premises liability claim first, and foremost, because Anthony Shafer is not the possessor of land, and therefore, he is not the proper defendant to sue on a premises liability claim. Second, an unsecured shotgun is presumably not, by itself, a dangerous condition on land. Here, the unsecured shotgun poses an unreasonable risk of harm to those present that evening, because Shafer’s conduct informed Gearhart that it was safe for him to play with.

William and Mary Shafer are no longer defendants in this case. They owned the premises, including the garage, where the accidental shooting occurred. Anthony Shafer, merely resided with them on the premises. He was not paying rent to live with them. He was allowed to use the premises so long as his use did not interfere with his grandparents. Clearly, William and Mary alone had possession and control over the premises, including the garage. Moreover, William owned the shotgun used in this accidental shooting. It did not belong to Anthony, and according to him, he had not touched it before that evening. The trial court summarily dismissed all claims against Mr. and Mrs. Shafer. No appeal was taken from that ruling, and thus, the premises liability claims in this case were extinguished.

**C. Gearhart's negligence was foreseeable because of what happened earlier that evening when he and Shafer handled the shotgun.**

As has been noted previously, Ian Gearhart clearly was interested in the shotgun. He was the one who picked it up after it was first noticed leaning against a wall in the garage between some shelving units. Unfortunately, Shafer did nothing to discourage him. Instead, Shafer indulged Gearhart's curiosity by handing the shotgun back to him, after he checked the slide to confirm that there was not a round in the chamber that could be fired. Instead, Shafer misled him into believing the gun was unloaded, when he pulled the trigger and it clicked harmlessly. Unfortunately, Shafer did not secure the weapon or warn him that there were 2 bullets in the magazine/reserve that could be pumped into the chamber.

While Gearhart did put the shotgun down, after first holding it up over his head, presumably so that the group could go for a late night swim, the brief interlude swimming does not make it unforeseeable that Gearhart would resume playing with the shotgun when he returned to the garage later on. Although the defense oddly suggests that Shafer had

no idea that Gearhart (or Jessica) would return to the garage after swimming, it is a curious claim given that neither had transportation. Where exactly were they going to go if not back to the garage? Jessica testified that they planned to stay the night and by that time it was already early morning. Clearly, it was foreseeable that they would go back to the garage where the shotgun was sitting in the same spot, waiting for Gearhart to again pick it up – unsecured, with 2 bullets in it that only Shafer knew about, and the safety switch off.

**D. Third-party criminal acts, whether negligent or intentional, do not negate existing legal duties, if the criminal act was not unforeseeable.**

Contrary to the defense’s position, there is no hard and fast rule of law that says that third-party criminal acts negate existing legal duties owed by the defendant in a civil case. That being said, it is also true that some third-party criminal acts are not foreseeable. In general, third-party criminal acts are not foreseeable, when done intentionally, because it typically cannot be anticipated that a third-party will intentionally harm another person. Consequently, a defendant in a civil case may owe no legal duty to an injured person when the harm results from a third-party’s intentional criminal act because it was not foreseeable.

The same, however, cannot be said where the resulting harm to another person is caused by a third-party’s criminal negligence. Here, the third-party criminal act was negligently discharging a firearm, which is a crime in Michigan, when it “kills or injures” another person. See generally, MCL 752.861. No cases have been cited by the defense that support the broad proposition that third-party criminal negligence is not foreseeable.

Instead, the cases cited and relied upon by the defense in its briefing all involve situations where the courts have found that no legal duty was owed to an injured person because the harm was caused by a third-party’s intentional criminal acts, i.e., shooting the

plaintiff with a firearm. As such, none of the cases are on point here because the third-party criminal acts of Ian Gearhart amounted to no more than negligent use of a firearm.

In *Lelito v Monroe*, 273 Mich App 416, 729 NW2d 564 (2007), for example, the plaintiff was murdered by her boyfriend who shot her with a loaded unsecured firearm that he got from defendant's bedroom in the home where both he and the plaintiff were living. The defendant owned both the home, and the gun, which he kept unsecured, and loaded. The Court held that it was not foreseeable that the boyfriend would retrieve the gun and use it to murder the plaintiff, who was his girlfriend. If his intentional criminal acts were foreseeable, the plaintiff would never have agreed to live with him, the Court concluded. Consequently, defendant homeowner (and gun owner) owed plaintiff no duty in that case.

The facts in *Lelito* could not be more different from what happened in this case. Gearhart accidentally shot Jessica because he did not know how the shotgun worked (or that it had 2 rounds in the magazine/reserve) when he pumped the action and it fired. Gearhart acted negligently, not intentionally, and he did so, because of Shafer's conduct earlier that evening when he handled the shotgun and then returned to Gearhart's hands.

The fact that the third-party's negligent act is also a crime when it results in another person being injured, as in this particular case, has no real legal "import" when it comes to determining whether a defendant, who is not the third-party actor, owes a legal duty to the injured person. Clearly, the operative question remains the same: was it foreseeable that someone such as the plaintiff would be injured? If so, a legal duty may be owed by the defendant in a civil case, such as the duty to use due care in an ordinary negligence claim.

Effectively, the defense contends that any negligence on Anthony Shafer's part should be excused, because third-party criminal acts such as negligent discharge of a

firearm, are not foreseeable. In making that argument, however, the defense ignores the fact that the rule it is relying on applies to intentional criminal acts, not criminal negligence. Instead, the defense asks this Court to adopt a rule that would dismiss negligence claims not based on whether the harm itself was foreseeable under the circumstances, but rather whether a third-party's negligence, and the ensuing harm, also resulted in criminal charges.

If adopted, such a broad rule would set a dangerous precedent since criminal negligence includes situations where an intoxicated person operating a motor vehicle injures another person. Since drunk driving is often charged as criminal negligence, those persons or entities who served the defendant driver while he or she was visibly intoxicated, or even the owner of the motor vehicle who gave the civil defendant car keys to drive home, would be exonerated from any civil liability because drunk driving is also a crime.

The cases cited by the defense are not on point here, because the outcome in each case clearly hinged on the fact that the injury/death resulted from a third-party's intentional criminal act, and not a merely a third party's negligence – negligence which also happens to be a crime, particularly in situations where it results in significant harm to other persons.

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